# RECEIVED

# In The Supreme Court of Mischark of Supreme Court

STATE OF WISCONSIN, PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER,

v.

JEFFREY C. DENNY, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT.

On Appeal from the Ozaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Joseph Voiland, Presiding, Case No. 1982CF425

## CORRECTED OPENING BRIEF OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General

DANIEL P. LENNINGTON Deputy Solicitor General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 *tseytlinm@doj.state.wi.us* (608) 267-9323

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin

#

INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 4
I. Legal Framework4
II. Facts Of The Present Case13
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT
I. Under <i>Moran</i> , To The Extent Denny Wishes To Conduct DNA Testing At His Own Expense, He Would Need To Show On Remand That He Seeks To Test Particular "Biological Material" That Is "Relevant" To His Case
II. Under Moran, Denny Is Not Entitled To DNA Testing At State Expense Because He Failed To Show That It Is "Reasonably Probable" That He Would Not Have Been Convicted Had Exculpatory DNA Test Results Been Available
III. In The Alternative, This Court Should Overrule Moran
CONCLUSION

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Cases

Denny v. Gudmanson, 252 F.3d 896 (7th Cir. 2001) 15, 24, 36, 38
Dist. Attorney's Office for the Third Judicial Dist. v. Osborne, 557 U.S. 52 (2009)
Donaldson v. State, 93 Wis. 2d 306, 286 N.W.2d 817 (1980) 25, 44
<i>Grayson v. King</i> , 460 F.3d 1328 (11th Cir. 2006)
Holland v. State, 91 Wis. 2d 134, 280 N.W.2d 288 (1979)
Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Employers Ins. of Wausau, 2003 WI 108,
264 Wis. 2d 60, 665 N.W.2d 60 41, 42, 43, 44 Shapiro v. Klinker,
257 Wis. 622, 44 N.W.2d 622 (1950)
State v. Denny, 163 Wis. 2d 352, 471 N.W.2d 606 (Ct. App. 1991) 15, 24, 36, 38
State v. Edmunds, 2008 WI App 33, 308 Wis. 2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 59025, 40
State v. Harris, 2004 WI 64, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737
State v. Hudson, 2004 WI App 99, 273 Wis. 2d 707, 681 N.W.2d 316
State v. Kimpel, 153 Wis. 2d 697, 451 N.W.2d 790 (1989)
State v. McCallum, 208 Wis. 2d 463, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997) passim
State v. Moran, 2005 WI 115, 284 Wis. 2d 24, 700 N.W.2d 884 passim

State v. O'Brien, 223 Wis. 2d 303, 588 N.W.2d 8 (1999) 40
State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985)
State v. Plude, 2008 WI 58, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 750 N.W.2d 28
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)
Wenke v. Gehl Co., 2004 WI 103, 274 Wis. 2d 220, 682 N.W.2d 405
Statutes
18 U.S.C. § 3600
2001 Wis. Act 16
Fla. Stat. § 925.11
Mich. Comp. Laws § 770.165
N.J. Stat. § 2A:84A-32a
N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law § 440.30
Okla. Stat. tit. 22, § 1373.2
Utah Code § 78B-9-301
Wis. Stat. § 939.05
Wis. Stat. § 940.01
Wis. Stat. § 974.07 passim
Other Authorities
Brandon L. Garrett, <i>Claiming Innocence</i> , 92 Minn. L. Rev. 1629 (2008)
JH Dingfelder Stone, Facing the Uncomfortable Truth: The Illogic of Post-Conviction DNA Testing for Individuals Who Pleaded Guilty, 45 U.S.F. L. Rev. 47 (2010)
Joe Minor, Touch DNA: From the Crime Scene to the Crime Laboratory, Forensic Magazine (Apr. 12, 2013)

Kathy Swedlow, Don't Believe Everything You Read: A Review of Modern "Post-Conviction" DNA Testing
Statutes, 38 Cal. W. L. Rev. 355 (2002)
Samuel R. Wiseman, <i>Waiving Innocence</i> , 96 Minn. L. Rev. 952 (2012)
Stephen Mercer & Jessica Gabel, Shadow Dwellers: The Underregulated World of State and Local DNA Databases, 69 N.Y.U. Ann. Surv. Am. L. 639 (2014)
Tonja Jacobi & Gwendolyn Carroll, Acknowledging Guilt: Forcing Self-Identification in Post-Conviction DNA Testing, 102 Nw. U.L. Rev. 263 (2008)
What is Touch DNA?, Scientific American (Aug. 8, 2008)
Wis. Crime Lab. Bureau, <i>Physical Evidence Handbook</i> (8th ed. 2009)

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. To obtain post-conviction DNA testing of evidence, must the movant show that the evidence "contains biological material" that "will be relevant to his prosecution," *State v. Moran*, 2005 WI 115, ¶¶ 3, 46, 284 Wis. 2d 24, 700 N.W.2d 884?

The circuit court did not answer this precise question, but the court of appeals answered "no."

2. To obtain post-conviction DNA testing at state expense, must the movant also show that there is a "reasonable probability that a jury," considering exculpatory DNA test results, "would have reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt," *State v. McCallum*, 208 Wis. 2d 463, 475, 561 N.W.2d 707 (1997)?

The circuit court did not answer this precise question, but the court of appeals answered "no."

3. Should this Court overrule *State v. Moran,* 2005 WI 115, 284 Wis. 2d 24, 700 N.W.2d 884?

The circuit court and court of appeals did not answer this question.

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

By granting the State's Petition for Review, this Court has indicated that this case is appropriate for oral argument and publication.

## INTRODUCTION

In 1982, a jury convicted Jeff Denny and his brother of stabbing a man to death. The evidence against Denny was overwhelming, including *thirty-six separate inculpatory statements* that Denny and his brother made confirming their guilt. A jury convicted Denny as a party to the crime, and this conviction has been affirmed by multiple state and federal courts.

Thirty-two years later, in 2014, Denny filed a motion to test twelve items from the crime scene for DNA evidence under Wis. Stat. § 974.07. In *State v. Moran*, 2005 WI 115, 284 Wis. 2d 24, 700 N.W.2d 884, this Court decided that this statute permits post-conviction DNA testing at private expense of items that "contain[] biological material," if those results "will be relevant to [the movant's] prosecution." *Id.* ¶¶ 3, 46. *Moran* also held that the statute allows testing at public expense if the movant can show, in addition, that it is "reasonably probable" that exculpatory DNA results would have led to no conviction. *Id.* ¶ 57.

At the circuit court, Denny did not specifically ask to test the "biological material" (i.e. blood) on these twelve items. Instead, Denny requested to test these twelve items because they *might* contain "touch DNA"; that is, invisible evidence that, in Denny's words, the "true perpetrator" of the murder *might* have left behind. R.223:1, 3.

The court of appeals decided that Denny was entitled to testing at both private and state expense. The court held that all convicted defendants have the unqualified right to test almost any item collected years earlier at almost any crime scene, regardless of whether there is any reason to believe that the items "contain[] biological material" suitable for DNA testing. The court of appeals also held that this testing must be done at public expense if there is any reasonable chance that exculpatory results could undermine confidence in the verdict, a standard that, under the court of appeals' permissive approach, will almost always be met.

The court of appeals' approach conflicts with *Moran* and should be rejected. With regard to testing at Denny's own expense, this Court should vacate the court of appeals' erroneous decision, and then remand for further proceedings consistent with *Moran*'s framework, including requiring Denny to establish that any items he wishes to test "contain[] biological material" suitable for DNA testing, which are relevant to Denny's case. And as to testing at state expense, this Court should simply affirm the circuit court's entirely correct analysis that there is no "reasonable probability" that exculpatory DNA results would have led to a different outcome, given the overwhelming evidence establishing Denny's guilt.

Alternatively, the State submits that *Moran* was wrongly decided and that a proper interpretation of Wisconsin's DNA testing statute would provide more complete guidance. The State respectfully suggests that this Court should overrule *Moran*.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Legal Framework

1. Since DNA technology was "first use[d] in criminal investigations in the mid-1980s, there have been several major advances." *Dist. Attorney's Office for the Third Judicial Dist. v. Osborne*, 557 U.S. 52, 62 (2009). Although DNA testing has exonerated some wrongly convicted individuals, "DNA testing alone does not always resolve a case." *Id.* "Where there is enough other incriminating evidence and an explanation for the DNA result, science alone cannot prove a prisoner innocent." *Id.* 

State legislatures and the Federal Government have passed laws "to ensure the fair and effective use of [DNA] testing within the existing criminal justice framework." Id. In 1994, New York became the first state to pass a postconviction DNA testing statute, see N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law § 440.30(1-a)(a), and in 2013, Oklahoma became the fiftieth state to pass such a law. See Okla. Stat. tit. 22, § 1373.2. The federal government also has its own post-conviction See 18 U.S.C. § 3600. DNA testing law. These laws typically require the sought-after evidence to be "material," see 18 U.S.C. § 3600(a)(8), JH Dingfelder Stone, Facing the Uncomfortable Truth: The Illogic of Post-Conviction DNA Testing for Individuals Who Pleaded Guilty, 45 U.S.F. L. Rev. 47, 49–51 (2010), while including various provisions relating to additional showings that the movant must make,

see Fla. Stat. § 925.11(2)(a)(3) (requiring defendant to file a sworn affidavit claiming actual innocence), Utah Code § 78B-9-301(4) (denying testing to defendants who declined testing at trial for tactical reasons), Brandon L. Garrett, *Claiming Innocence*, 92 Minn. L. Rev. 1629, 1681 n.242 (2008) (twelve states require the requested testing to "have been technologically impossible at the trial"), and who must pay for the testing, *see, e.g.*, N.J. Stat. § 2A:84A-32a(g) (requiring petitioner to pay costs associated with testing), Mich. Comp. Laws § 770.16(6) (requiring cost of testing to be assessed against petitioner, unless he is indigent), *see also* Kathy Swedlow, *Don't Believe Everything You Read: A Review of Modern "Post-Conviction" DNA Testing Statutes*, 38 Cal. W. L. Rev. 355, 381 n.104 (2002) (collecting statutes).

While most DNA testing has involved visible biological material such as blood, so-called "touch DNA" has become prominent in recent years. Joe Minor, *Touch DNA: From the Crime Scene to the Crime Laboratory*, Forensic Magazine (Apr. 12, 2013).<sup>1</sup> "Touch DNA doesn't require you to see anything, or any blood or semen at all. It only requires seven or eight cells from the outermost layer of our skin." *What is Touch DNA?*, Scientific American (Aug. 8, 2008).<sup>2</sup> "A visible amount of a bodily fluid like semen, blood, or

 $<sup>^1\,</sup>$  http://www.forensicmag.com/article/2013/04/touch-dna-crime-scen e-crime-laboratory.

 $<sup>^2\,</sup>$  http://www.scientificamerican.com/article/experts-touch-dna-jonb enet-ramsey/.

saliva at a crime scene is [] no longer needed; police can collect and analyze trace amounts of 'touch' DNA from surfaces like doorknobs, steering wheels, or windows." Stephen Mercer & Jessica Gabel, Shadow Dwellers: The Underregulated World of State and Local DNA Databases, 69 N.Y.U. Ann. Surv. Am. L. 639, 646 (2014). "[T]he relevance and reliability of low-level DNA profiles from surfaces likely to contain DNA from more than one person can be very uncertain." Id. at 646. Because "[m]ixtures of DNA from different people are [] common [] on touched items, [it] can make interpretation of the results difficult or impossible." Wis. Crime Lab. Bureau, *Physical Evidence* Handbook ch. 5, at 59 (8th ed. 2009).<sup>3</sup> DNA analyses of touched items "[f]requently result in uninterpretable mixtures." Id. at 61.

Notably, the Wisconsin State Crime Laboratory will not analyze an item for "touch DNA" if the item has already been subject to other testing (e.g. fingerprint analysis). *See* Wisconsin State Crime Laboratory, *Evidence Submission Guidelines*, at 4.<sup>4</sup>

2. In 2001, Wisconsin passed its own post-conviction DNA testing statute. *See* 2001 Wis. Act 16, § 4028j, codified at Wis. Stat. § 974.07. Because the State believes that this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> https://wilenet.org/html/crime-lab/physevbook/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> https://www.doj.state.wi.us/sites/default/files/dles/clab-forms/2015 \_Evidence%20Submission%20Guidelines-MLW.pdf

plain text conflicts with this Court's reading in *Moran*, this brief: first (a) lays out the thirteen sections, as written in the text; then (b) summarizes *Moran*'s interpretation; and finally (c) explains the State's understanding of the text.

a. Wisconsin's post-conviction DNA testing statute,Wis. Stat. § 974.07, consists of thirteen sections:

Section 974.07(1), Definitions. "Government agency" is defined as any department, agency, or court of the federal, state, or local government. "Movant" is defined as anyone who makes a motion under Section 974.07(2).

Section 974.07(2), Motion Requirements. A movant may bring a motion for an order "requiring [DNA] testing of evidence" at "any time after being convicted of a crime." The motion must seek testing of evidence that (a) is "relevant to the investigation or prosecution that resulted in the conviction," (b) is in the "actual or constructive possession of a government agency," and (c) "has not been previously subjected to [DNA] testing."<sup>5</sup>

Section 974.07(3), Notice and Duties of the Court. A movant must serve a copy of the motion on the district attorney's office. Likewise, the court must also inform the district attorney of the motion and permit a response.

Section 974.07(4), Notice to Victims. Victims must be notified of the pending motion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Evidence may also, under certain circumstances, be tested if it was previously tested.

Section 974.07(5), Duty to Preserve Evidence. The district attorney, upon receiving notice, must "take all actions necessary" to ensure the preservation of "all biological material that was collected in connection with the investigation or prosecution of the case and that remains in actual or constructive custody of a government agency."

Section 974.07(6), Disclosure and Discovery. "Upon demand the district attorney shall disclose to the movant or his or her attorney whether biological material has been tested." The statute further provides that the district attorney "shall make available": (1) "[f]indings based on testing of biological materials," and (2) "[p]hysical evidence that is in the actual or constructive possession of a government agency and that contains biological material or on which there is biological material." This section also imposes a duty upon the "movant" to "disclose to the district attorney whether biological material has been tested." Furthermore, a movant must make available "[f]indings based upon testing of biological materials" and the "movant's biological specimen." The court "may impose reasonable conditions on the availability of material ... in order to protect the integrity of the evidence."

Section 974.07(7), Ordering Testing. This section lays out the criteria a court must apply when ordering DNA testing, with the critical inquiry being whether the movant has satisfied a "reasonably probable" standard. Subsection 974.07(7)(a) provides that a court "shall order" DNA testing if: (1) the "movant claims that he or she is innocent of the offense at issue," (2) it is "reasonably probable that the movant would not have been prosecuted [or] convicted ... if exculpatory [DNA] testing results had been available before the prosecution [or] conviction," (3) the "evidence to be tested meets the conditions under sub. (2)(a) to (c)," and (4) the "chain of custody ... establishes that the evidence has not been tampered with, replaced, or altered in any material respect" (or the "testing itself can establish the integrity of the evidence").

Subsection 974.07(7)(b) provides that a court "may order" testing if: (1) it is "reasonably probable that the outcome of the proceedings that resulted in the conviction ... or the terms of the sentence ... would have been more favorable to the movant if the results of [DNA] testing had been available before he or she was prosecuted [or] convicted," (2) the "evidence to be tested meets the conditions under sub. (2)(a) to (c)," and (3) the "chain of custody ... establishes that the evidence has not been tampered with, replaced, or altered in any material respect" (or the "testing itself can establish the integrity of the evidence").

Section 974.07(8), Testing Location. "The court may impose reasonable conditions on any testing ordered under this section in order to protect the integrity of the evidence and the testing process." The court may also "order the state crime laboratories to perform the testing," or that "the material be sent to a facility other than the state crime laboratories for testing."

Section 974.07(9), Disposition of Evidence. If the results do not support the movant's claim, then "the court shall determine the disposition of the evidence."

Section 974.07(10), Relief. If the results of DNA testing "support the movant's claim, the court shall schedule a hearing to determine the appropriate relief." This may include "any of the following" relief in the "interests of justice": (1) an order setting aside or vacating the conviction, (2) a new trial or fact-finding hearing, (3) a new sentencing hearing, (4) an order discharging the movant from custody, or (5) an order specifying the disposition of any evidence "that remains after the completion of the testing,"

Section 974.07(11), Appointment. Motions by unrepresented movants who "claim[] or appear[] to be indigent" must be referred to the "state public defender for determination of indigency and appointment."

Section 974.07(12), Costs of Testing. "The court may order a movant to pay the costs of any testing ordered by the court under this section if the court determines that the movant is not indigent." This section provides that a movant is indigent if any of the following apply: (1) the movant "was found to be indigent," following a referral to the state public defender's office, or (2) the movant "does not possess the financial resources to pay the costs of testing." If the movant is not ordered to pay, then the "state crime laboratories shall pay for testing ordered under this section and performed by a facility other than the state crime laboratories."

Section 974.07(13), Appeal. This section provides that an "appeal may be taken from an order entered under this section as from a final judgment."

b. In 2005, in *Moran*, this Court interpreted Wis. Stat. § 974.07 as giving each "defendant the right to test [] sought-after evidence containing biological material" if three conditions are met: (1) the "evidence is relevant to the investigation or the prosecution that resulted in the conviction," (2) the "evidence is in the actual or constructive possession of a governmental agency," and (3), the evidence "has not previously been subjected to [DNA] testing." *Moran*, 284 Wis. 2d 24, ¶¶ 27, 57.

*Moran* held that Wis. Stat. § 974.07 contains a provision for testing at private expense, and a provision for testing at public expense. Under Subsection 974.07(6)(a)2, a successful movant "must conduct any testing of the evidence at his own expense," and "comply with all reasonable conditions imposed by the court to protect the integrity of the evidence." Wis. Stat. § 974.07(6)(a)2; *Moran*, 284 Wis. 2d 24, ¶ 57. "If a movant seeks DNA testing at public expense" under Section 974.07(7), he must also show that it is "reasonably probable" that he would not have been convicted if "exculpatory [DNA] testing results had been available before the [ ] conviction," or that "the outcome of the

proceedings ... or the terms of the sentence would have been more favorable to [him] if the results of [DNA] testing had been available." Wis. Stat. § 974.07(7)(a) and (b); *Moran*, 284 Wis. 2d 24, ¶ 57.

In a concurring opinion joined by then-Justice Roggensack, Justice Wilcox "reluctantly agree[d]." *Moran*, 284 Wis. 2d 24, ¶ 59 (Wilcox, J., concurring). Justice Wilcox observed that the purpose of Subsection 974.07(6)(a)2 might have been as a "discovery provision," not a testing provision, adding that making the availability of testing at state expense turn on the factors the Court had identified would raise "equal protection" concerns because "there is no reason why someone who cannot afford to pay for such testing would not be equally entitled to such evidence." *Id.* ¶¶ 65– 66 (Wilcox, J., concurring).

The State respectfully submits that *Moran's* c. reading of Wis. Stat. § 974.07's plain text is not correct. The State's understanding of the statutory text is: to obtain DNA testing, a movant must file a motion that satisfies Section 974.07(2)'s requirements, thus complying with the motion provision, and then must also satisfy Section 974.07(7)'s "reasonably probable" standard to obtain an order from the circuit court for such testing. In the State's view, Subsection 974.07(6)(a)2—the provision Moran held was a separate provision for a movant-funded DNA test-does not provide for any DNA testing on its own, and is, instead, simply a mandate that the district attorney turn

over evidence to the movant, who can then inspect for biological material as part of the process leading to the circuit court's decision on testing under Wis. Stat. § 974.07(7). If the circuit court ultimately orders testing under Section 974.07(7), that court must then decide who will pay for this testing under Section 974.07(12).

## II. Facts Of The Present Case

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