RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-29-2016

IN SUPREME COUR T OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP202

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

JEFFREY C. DENNY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Reversing an Order Denying Post-Conviction DNA Testing Entered in the Circuit Court for Ozaukee County, the Honorable Joseph Voiland, Presiding, Case No. 1982CF000425

RESPONSE BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Steven D. Grunder Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1068023 Office of the State Public Defender

Keith A. Findley State Bar No. 1012149 Wisconsin Innocence Project

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

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction

In 2001, Wisconsin joined the states that had created a postconviction right of discovery that allows convicted individuals to access physical evidence for DNA testing. The Wisconsin legislature unanimously adopted 2001 Wisconsin Act 16, which included Wis. Stat. §974.07, the postconviction DNA testing statute. Today, every state in the nation has enacted such a statute, in recognition of the unparalleled truth-telling potential of DNA. Innocence Project, http://innocenceproject.org/acess-post-conviction-dnatesting/.

These statutes were enacted after the advent of forensic DNA testing in the late 1980s, and the parade of DNA exonerations in the 1990s and 2000s demonstrated both that the criminal justice system is susceptible to error and that postconviction-DNA testing can correct those errors. These statutes recognize that the interests in protecting the innocent and identifying true perpetrators who have escaped demand access DNA in prosecution to the postconviction context. In 2001, the bill's chief sponsor, then-Representative Scott Walker, explained that the legislature felt "strongly about the use of DNA in terms of exonerating those who are innocent and equally so...ensuring that the real perpetrator of that crime is...someone that we need to go out and find who's still out in society, that's the proper use of this technology." Walker Presentation, UW Law School (2001), https://law.wisc.edu/fjr/clinicals/ip/.

The interpretations of §974.07 urged by the State are inconsistent with these legislative purposes

and the realities of DNA testing. More basically, the State's arguments are inconsistent with the plain language of the statute, and with the reading of that language by this Court in *State v. Moran,* 2005 WI 115, 284 Wis.2d 24, 700 N.W.2d 884. The State's interpretations would violate the plain meaning of the statute and effectively gut the right to postconviction DNA testing that the legislature sought to codify, essentially eliminating postconviction DNA testing in the future. Innocent individuals would languish in prison and true perpetrators would evade justice. This Court should reject the State's radical reinterpretation of §974.07.

II. Moran Correctly Reads The Plain Language Of §974.07.

Eleven years ago, this Court examined the plain language of §974.07 and *unanimously* held that it creates two separate pathways to postconviction DNA testing: first, a right of access to biological evidence, under which a movant, subject to protective conditions imposed by a court, may choose to send the material to a laboratory for DNA testing at the movant's own expense; and a second, under which a movant is entitled to a court order for DNA testing, at state expense if the movant is indigent. *Moran*, ¶57. Although not raised in its Petition for Review,³ the State now goes so far as to contend that this Court's unanimous plain-text reading of the statute should be overruled, even though the plain language has not changed one word since *Moran*.⁴

³ See footnote 1, supra.

⁴ The only thing that has changed is the State's own position on the statute. In *State v. Hudson*, 2004 WI App 99, ¶21, 273 Wis.2d 707, 681 N.W.2d 316, the State argued that the better reading

A. *Moran* correctly held that §974.07 creates two separate mechanisms for obtaining postconviction DNA testing.

This Court in *Moran* identified two pathways to DNA testing by examining the "plain language of the statute." *Id.* ¶32. This Court first looked to §974.07(2), which provides that any prisoner may seek access to biological evidence for DNA testing if he or she meets three threshold requirements. Quoting the plain language of §974.07(2)⁵ this Court held that these three preliminary requirements are:

First, the evidence containing biological material must be "relevant to the investigation or prosecution that resulted in the conviction..." Second, the evidence must be in the government's possession. Third, the evidence must not have been subjected to forensic DNA testing or, if so tested, "may now be subjected to another test that was not available or was not utilized at the time of the previous testing..."

Id. ¶42.

of the statute was that the plain language provided the two pathways recognized later by this Court in *Moran*. A year later, in *Moran*, the State reversed course and argued that there was no right to access evidence for DNA testing at one's own expense under §974.07(6), but this Court rejected that contention. As noted, in this case the State again challenged *Moran's* reading of the law, then thought better of it and dropped it from its Petition for Review, only to raise it again in its brief.

⁵ Section 974.07(2) is set forth in full in the Supplemental Appendix.

This Court then looked to subsection (6), which provides that once a movant satisfies these preliminary requirements:

(6)(a) Upon demand the district attorney shall...make available to the movant...the following material:

2. Physical evidence that is in the actual or constructive possession of a government agency and that contains biological material or on which there is biological material.

The statute does not prohibit DNA testing once a movant gains access to the evidence. *Moran* therefore concluded that, "[i]f these requirements are satisfied, the plain language of the statute dictates that the movant should receive access to the evidence, and may subject the material to DNA testing at his or her own expense." *Id.* ¶43.

The second pathway to DNA testing applies only if a movant, in addition to meeting the three threshold requirements of §974.07(2), can also satisfy the additional requirements of §974.07(7).⁶ Under sub. (7), a court "shall" order not just access to the evidence, but DNA testing itself, and under \$974.07(12) the testing must be conducted at state expense if the movant is indigent. The additional requirements for such courtordered DNA testing are that "[t]he movant claims that he or she is innocent"; "it is reasonably probable that the movant would not have been prosecuted [or] convicted...if exculpatory deoxvribonucleic acid testing results had been available before the prosecution [or] conviction..."; and "[t]he chain of

⁶ Section 974.07(7)(a) is set forth in the Supplemental Appendix.

custody of the evidence" is established. Section 974.07(7)(a). Thus, "[t]he language of §974.07(7)(a)2 is plain, requiring us to determine whether it is reasonably probable that the movant would not have been prosecuted or convicted if exculpatory DNA testing results had been available...." *Denny*, ¶53. If so, a movant, if indigent, is entitled to court-ordered DNA testing at state's expense.

B. The State fails to recognize that both §§974.07(6) and (7) are discovery provisions, and therefore both can provide a pathway to DNA testing.

The State contends that, contrary to Moran, §974.07(6) cannot entitle one to DNA testing at one's because. "[i]n the expense State's view. own 974.07(6)(a)2 Subsection is iust a discovery provision-not a testing provision...." St.Br.41. This argument highlights fundamental а misunderstanding of §974.07—the entire statute, including both subs. (6) and (7), is a discovery provision. Even before §974.07 was enacted, this Court appropriately treated a motion for postconviction DNA testing as a discovery motion in *State v. O'Brien*, 223 Wis.2d 303, 588 N.W.2d 8 (1999). To call something a "discovery" provision does not mean it precludes DNA testing; to the contrary, it means DNA testing is an available option.

Consistently, other courts recognize that postconviction-DNA-testing statutes are discovery statutes, because they provide a mechanism for accessing information, and do not inevitably lead to a challenge to the conviction itself. *See Price v. Pierce*, 617 F.3d 947, 952-953 (7th Cir. 2010)(postconviction-DNA-testing statutes are "discovery" provisions); Brown v. Sec'y Dep't Corr., 530 F.3d 1335, 1337-38 (11th Cir. 2008) (Florida's postconviction-DNA-testing statute is "an application for discovery only"); District Attorney for Third Judicial District v. Osborne, 557 U.S. 52, 78 (2009) (Alito, J., concurring)("What respondent seeks was accurately described in his complaint—the discovery of evidence that has a material bearing on his conviction."). The distinction the State makes between subs. (6) and (7) is a meaningless one.

C. Section 974.07(12) is triggered only when the court rules that the defendant has a right to testing under §974.07(7).

The Moran State argues that renders 974.07(12) superfluous. Subsection (12) provides that a court granting court-ordered testing under sub. (7) must order the testing at state expense if the defendant is indigent. Because the State reads *Moran* as holding that testing under sub. (6) is always at the individual's expense, while testing under sub. (7) is always at state expense, and the State cannot see any other difference under *Moran* between the testing under subs. (6) and (7), the State sees nothing for sub. (12) to do. St.Br.44. The State misunderstands Moran and the distinctions between subs. (6) and (7).

Moran addressed only the requirements for accessing evidence for DNA testing at one's own expense, under the minimal threshold showings required by sub. (6), which does not entitle one to state-funded testing, or even to testing at the State Crime Laboratory at all. Section 974.07(12), by contrast, applies only if one has met the more demanding requirements for court-ordered DNA testing under sub. (7). It then does more than just provide a right of access to the evidence. It also provides a right to a court order for testing. That is important because under Wis. Stat. §165.77(2)(a)1, the State Crime Laboratory may do DNA testing only for law enforcement agencies, or for the defense "pursuant to a court order." And then §974.07(12) provides that such court-ordered testing shall be at state expense, but only if the defendant is indigent—not in every case.

In other words, testing under §974.07(7), as opposed to access to evidence under §974.07(6), does at least two things: (1) it entitles one to DNA testing, including at the State Crime Laboratory, by court order; and (2) it triggers sub. (12), which entitles the defendant to that testing at State expense if he is indigent. Properly understood, sub. (12) does important work; there is nothing superfluous about it.

Finally, the State suggests that recognizing a right to self-funded DNA testing under sub. (6) would create equal-protection problems, yet omits that Moran already rejected that concern. Justice Wilcox, in his concurring opinion, explicitly raised the equalprotection issue. Moran, 966. The majority, however, concluded: "The harsh reality of life is that some persons who have been convicted of crime may have the means to hire attorneys or investigators postconviction under circumstances that would never justify the expenditure of public money." Id. ¶56. Allowing a defendant to test evidence at his own expense presents no more of an equal-protection problem than allowing that same defendant to submit Open Records requests or interview witnesses at his own expense.

D. The State has not met its heavy burden of showing necessity to abandon *stare decisis*.

The principle of *stare decisis* is fundamental. This Court has repeatedly explained:

> "This court follows the doctrine of stare decisis scrupulously because of our abiding respect for the rule of law."... It is a "longstanding rule that this court 'is bound by its own precedent.""...

> "Fidelity to precedent ensures that existing law will not be abandoned lightly. When existing law 'is open to revision in every case, "deciding cases becomes a mere exercise of judicial will, with arbitrary and unpredictable results.""... Failing to abide by stare decisis raises serious concerns as to whether the court is "implementing 'principles...founded in the law rather than in the proclivities of individuals.""...

Progressive Northern Ins. Co. v. Romanshek, 2005 WI 67, $\P\P41-45$, 281 Wis.2d 300, 697 N.W.2d 417 (citations omitted).

As Justice Ziegler recently observed, even if the Court were convinced a decision was wrongly decided, that would not be reason to overturn it:

> "Respecting *stare decisis* means sticking to some wrong decisions. The doctrine rests on the idea, as Justice Brandeis famously wrote, that it is usually 'more important that the applicable rule of law be settled than that it be settled right.' Indeed, *stare decisis* has consequence only to the extent it sustains incorrect decisions; correct judgments have no need for that principle to prop them up. *Accordingly, an argument that we got something wrong—even a good argument to that*

effect—cannot by itself justify scrapping settled precedent."

State v. Lynch, 2016 App 66, ¶298 (Ziegler, J., dissenting)(quoting Kimble v. Marvel Entm't, LLC, 135 S.Ct. 2401, 2409 (2015)(emphasis in Lynch)(citations omitted).

And all of this has added weight when, as here, the precedent interprets a statute. Agreeing with Justice Ziegler, the lead opinion in *Lynch* observed:

> "What is more, stare decisis carries enhanced force when a decision...interprets a statute. Then, unlike in a constitutional case, critics of our ruling can take their objections across the street, and Congress can correct any mistake it sees.... All our interpretive decisions, in whatever way reasoned, effectively become part of the statutory scheme, subject (just like the rest) to congressional changes. Absent special justification, they are balls tossed into Congress's court, for acceptance or not as that branch elects."

Lynch, ¶13, n.18 (quoting Kimble at 2409 (emphasis in Lynch)).

There is no justification for upsetting *Moran's* settled reading of the plain statutory language. If it were not what the legislature intended, the legislature could have changed the law—indeed this Court invited the legislature to "revisit" the statute, *see Moran* ¶56—but it chose not to. The State's request to overrule *Moran* therefore amounts to little more than an improper request for this Court to make legislative amendments that the legislature has chosen not to make.

- III. *Moran*'s Plain-Language Interpretation Does Not Require Showing That The Evidence "Contains Biological Material."
 - A. Section 974.07(2) requires showing only that the evidence is "relevant"—not also that the evidence contains biological material suitable for DNA testing.

A key threshold requirement of the DNA-testing statute for both self-funded and court-ordered DNA testing is that the evidence must be "relevant" to the prosecution or conviction. Section 974.07(2). The State seeks to deny Denny access to DNA evidence, arguing for a crabbed reading of "relevant"—a reading that is inconsistent with the plain language of the statute, the common legal meaning of "relevancy," and the express holding of *Moran*.

The State complains, as it did in *Moran*, that permitting defendants to test relevant evidence at their own expense is too broad. St.Br.33. In Moran. the State attempted to narrow the import of the plain statutory language by imposing additional requirements on a defendant's right to access evidence for DNA testing at personal expense. But this Court unanimously rejected that invitation to rewrite the statute. Expressing some reservations about the breadth of the disclosure obligation, this Court held: "For good or ill, the plain language of the statute leads us to [reject the State's interpretation]." Moran, ¶38. The Court continued: "We would have to add language to the statute in order to justify the State's interpretation.... We are simply "not at liberty to disregard the plain, clear words of the statute."" Id. \P 39-40 (citations omitted).

Having failed to amend the statute in *Moran*, the State now tries again, offering other language it wants this Court to append to the statute. But just as the statutory language could not bear such revision in *Moran*, it cannot accommodate the State's additions here either.

The State now argues that "a movant must show that there is 'evidence containing biological material' in the evidence that the movant wishes to test." St.Br.26. The State's additional element, however, is not supported by any authority, the plain statutory language, or the realities of DNA testing.

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